
Minutes* 
 

Senate Research Committee 
Monday, April 21, 2008 

12:30 - 2:15 
238A Morrill Hall 

 
 
Present: Dan Dahlberg (chair), Tricia Conway, James Cotter, Sharon Danes, Steven Gantt, Shikha 

Jain, Paul Johnson, Juergen Konczak, Michelle Lamere, Frances Lawrenz, Jennifer 
Linde, Susan Rafferty, Steven Ruggles, Charles Spetland, George Trachte, Barbara 
VanDrasek, Sanford Weisberg, Jean Witson 

 
Absent: Linda Bearinger, Arlene Carney, Jerry Cohen, Robin Dittman, Tryphon Georgiou, 

Bridget Helwig, Timothy Mulcahy, Mark Paller, Federico Ponce de Leon, Virginia 
Seybold 

 
Guests:  Associate Vice President Pamela Webb; Mark Bohnhorst (Office of the General Counsel) 
 
Other: Melinda Sewell (Office of the Vice President for Research) 
 
[In these minutes:  (1) best practices on internal grants; (2) a proposed contract and "openness in 
research"; (3) openness in research policy amendments; (4) a new subcommittee] 
 
 
1. Best Practices on Internal Grants 
 
 Professor Dahlberg convened the meeting at 12:35 and turned to Associate Vice President 
Lawrenz for a review of the "Procedures for internal review of proposals," a copy of which is appended to 
these minutes.   
 
 This is not a policy, Dr. Lawrenz explained, but a set of guidelines that can be used if people 
wish.  The University sponsors a number of internal grant competitions; there are different ways to do 
them but they should seek to be equitable.  With internal reviews of proposals, one problem can be that 
there is only a small group involved, so the planning group might also be the review group as well as the 
most logical people to apply for the funds.  There was a problem in one case, where a faculty member felt 
the process was not fair, so she developed the guidelines.  The guidelines have been posted on the Office 
of the Vice President for Research website and she is also available to review grant procedures as needed.  
The central point in the guidelines is that no one has "insider information" that gives him or her an 
advantage in competition:  all who compete for funds should receive all information. 
 
 So these are guidelines and not required, Professor Dahlberg concluded.  Dr. Lawrenz said she 
was not certain that her office could TELL groups awarding funds that they must follow the guidelines, 
but most would want to follow the suggestions.  She said she did not believe the guidelines should be 
turned into policy. 
 

                                                           
* These minutes reflect discussion and debate at a meeting of a committee of the University of Minnesota 

Senate; none of the comments, conclusions, or actions reported in these minutes represents the views of, nor are they 
binding on, the Senate, the Administration, or the Board of Regents. 



Senate Research Committee 
Monday, April 21, 2008 
 
 

2

 How do people know the guidelines exist, Professor Danes asked?  Dr. Lawrenz said that was a 
good question.  Most groups who sponsor internal grant competitions know about them; she said she 
would also include a notice about them in "Research News Online."  Her office does know about any 
internal grant competition that is open to everyone but they would not necessarily know about 
opportunities that are more limited.  Professor Konczek suggested providing the guidelines to the 
associate deans for research and make them responsible for disseminating them.  Dr. Lawrenz said she 
has circulated the guidelines to the Council of Research Associate Deans. 
 
2. Proposed Contract & the Openness in Research Policy 
 
 Professor Dahlberg turned next to Associate Vice President Webb to discuss a proposal to do 
work at the University and whether or not the proposal comes under the Regents policy Openness in 
Research.  The Committee had been provided with information about the proposal. 
 
 Ms. Webb explained that her assessment of this proposal is that it is not research.  The company 
has proposed to hire the University to do part of a survey (collect and clean up data about infant food).  
The University offers a skilled set of hands and use of University software but it will not be involved in 
evaluation of the data; it is simply turning the data over to the company.  Since it is not research, she 
would classify it as an external sale, and the company has included language that is responsive to the 
Openness in Research policy (the University can use the data to build future research).   
 
 If the University treats it as an external sale, does it collect overhead, Professor Weisberg asked.  
It does not, Ms. Webb said, but as an external sale the University does cover costs; it sets the charge at 
what the market will bear.  It is also a public service, she added.  Professor Weisberg related that he had 
been contacted by a company about providing a service in preparing data; can the University provide that 
service and charge for it?  There is an expectation that the work would be connected to the University's 
mission, Ms. Webb said; the value of the infant-food study is that it is an opportunity to train students on 
the software and obtain insights on dietary issues.  The question is how work relates to the University's 
mission.   
 
 How is this distinguished from consulting, Professor Johnson inquired.  The investigator would 
use University resources and students for the work, Ms. Webb said, so the proposal goes through the 
University.  If the investigator wished to perform the work as consulting, there cannot be material use of 
University resources.  This is also a large study over 14 months using seven interviewers, probably more 
work than someone could handle as a consultant.   
 
 Professor Ruggles said he thought the process was that these issues were automatically referred to 
the subcommittee on openness in research; why is it before the full Committee?  Professor Dahlberg said 
he asked that it be on the agenda.  He had questions about the process and whether these kinds of 
proposals are research, the issue that Ms. Webb raised.  He said he thought a discussion here and then at 
FCC would clarify the process.   
 
 Professor Dahlberg then asked how the University knows the actual costs (including indirect 
costs) and whether it is getting anything back.  Ms. Webb said the papers would be processed through the 
Office of External Sales, with actual costs and charges to the company—which would include salaries, 
fringe benefits, supplies, etc., the typical cost drivers.  There could also be a charge to cover other costs, 
what are usually thought of as indirect costs.  The external sales charges are usually determined by the 



Senate Research Committee 
Monday, April 21, 2008 
 
 

3

department.  With the new budget model, and departments expected to pay for space and utilities, for 
example, would those be covered, Professor Dahlberg asked.  In principle, they would, Ms. Webb said.  
Dr. Lawrenz affirmed that they would be included, as could depreciation.  The department can also 
charge a premium if the market will bear it, Ms. Webb added. 
 
 What if someone does not want to charge a premium but instead sets a low price in order to get 
the work, Professor Dahlberg inquired.  Ms. Webb said that is up the department; it must approve and 
sign off on the contract so presumably it approves a low charge.  That would mean the work would be 
subsidized if the charge did not fully cover costs, Professor Ruggles said, but a department could make 
that decision for strategic reasons.   
 
 Professor Johnson inquired about graduate assistants.  The cost of a graduate assistant, including 
fringe benefits, could be included in charges to a company, Ms. Webb said.  That would not work with 
consulting, Professor Johnson observed.  If University resources are used, it must be an external sale, Ms. 
Webb said, which would include graduate assistant work.  If one hires a graduate student on a consulting 
project, Professor Johnson said, it would not be a University job, Professor Ruggles finished.  Ms. Webb 
agreed. 
 
 It seems there is a gray line between research and external sales, Ms. Witson said; is there a need 
for more specific language?  Ms. Webb said she is working on that, trying for a clear definition of a 
sponsored project, gifts, external sales, and so on.  What she looks for is whether there is significant 
intellectual effort that would lead to new knowledge?  In this case, there will be for the company but not 
in what the University is doing for the company. 
 
 If something is an external sale, does the "Openness in Research" policy apply, Ms. Witson then 
inquired.  It does, Ms. Webb said, but there is a proviso for external sales that the results can be kept 
confidential—but that the University must be able to use the results in aggregate and to guide the design 
of future research.   
 
 Professor Ruggles asked about projects that do not involve original research; do they create a 
problem?  There is a gap, Ms. Webb said; "Openness in Research" applies to research, not public service, 
education, etc.  They fall outside the policy.  Some are sponsored projects and others are external sales.   
Professor Ruggles recalled that his center did a project that coded occupations.  There can be single tasks 
within research, Ms. Webb said; in this case at hand, the University's entire piece is not research.  It is 
permissible to go through external sales, for example, when the University simply does lab tests.    
 
 Professor Danes said that one has heard over the years what distinguishes between external sales, 
research, and gifts; how does done distinguish public service?  What is an example?  Helping soybean 
growers in guiding crop choices and fertilizer would be an example, Ms. Webb said.   The individuals are 
not doing research, they are using their expertise to help.  Or they may be offering courses for an outside 
entity for employees or the public that is not in the normal list of courses.  Or they may assist with a 
museum exhibit. 
 
 Ms. Witson asked if this proposal needs to go to the subcommittee on openness in research if it is 
not research or if it is an external sale.  Ms. Webb said it does not need an exception because it meets the 
policy guideline, which provides that for research, there must be an exception granted if the results cannot 
be disseminated.  For external sales, a proposal must meet one of two criteria; this one does so does not 



Senate Research Committee 
Monday, April 21, 2008 
 
 

4

require an exception.  The proposal could be remanded to the subcommittee, Professor Dahlberg 
observed; Ms. Webb agreed but asked if that would be necessary after discussion that determines it does 
not meet the test of needing an exception.  Professor Ruggles agreed that the proposal is within the rules 
and does not require an exception but suggested that such proposals in the future be passed by the 
subcommittee so that it can keep an eye on them.  Ms. Webb said there is a potential problem with that 
suggestion because the Office of External Sales receives a large number of requests which require that 
results cannot be disclosed but which meet one of the two criteria allowing the work to be done without 
violating the Openness in Research policy.  She said she would like to avoid having ALL of those 
proposals go through the subcommittee if it meets the tests.  She asked if it would be better to bring those 
proposals that do not meet the criteria.  Part of the subcommittee work is learning about proposals that 
come to the University, Dr. VanDrasek observed.  Ms. Webb asked if it would be expected that an 
exception form would need to be filled out for each one; there could be a high volume, she cautioned.  
What number, Professor Dahlberg asked?  Ms. Webb said she did not know but would find out. 
 
 Professor Ruggles said that if there is a loophole, that would defeat the intent of the Openness in 
Research policy.  It would be a good idea for the subcommittee to look at a sample of the proposals to 
determine whether they should be rubber-stamped.  The work that is not research would not be under the 
subcommittee's jurisdiction, Ms. Witson said; it will want to see those that involve research.  Professor 
Dahlberg said it should also see proposals where the direct costs are less than the indirect costs.  Professor 
Ruggles objected that the Openness in Research policy has nothing to do with whether a project is 
profitable or not.  Ms. Witson agreed that is not a concern of the subcommittee. 
 
 Professor Dahlberg accepted a motion to move this issue forward with guidance from Ms. Webb.  
The motion was adopted unanimously. 
 
3. Openness in Research Policy Amendments 
 
 Professor Dahlberg turned next to Mr. Bohnhorst to lead a discussion of proposed amendments to 
the administrative policy implementing the Regents policy Openness in Research policy that the 
Committee had requested at its last meeting.  The concern was about when the policy would cover faculty 
who are on leave or on sabbatical.  The Committee had been provided copies of proposed amendments to 
the policy. 
 
 Mr. Bohnhorst recalled that the discussion at the last meeting had centered on whether the faculty 
member was being paid by the University.  He proposes a different approach, one signaled by the Regents 
policy:  one amendment stipulates that the policy covers research conducted at the University of 
Minnesota.  Other amendments he suggests provide "clarifications regarding faculty on leave" and 
provide the following (the three bullets are direct quotes): 
 
-- Faculty on leave at another institution are subject to whatever openness in research policy applies at 
that institution. 
 
--  Faculty on leave at a company, national lab, or other entity with a more restrictive policy than 
University of Minnesota policy are subject to the entity's policy unless an agreement relating to the leave 
provides otherwise. 
 



Senate Research Committee 
Monday, April 21, 2008 
 
 

5

--  Faculty on leave who continue to oversee or participate in research conducted at the University of 
Minnesota are subject to the University of Minnesota policy for the University of Minnesota research. 
 
So the policy would not necessarily apply if the research is done elsewhere.  The original policy was 
adopted in 2005, when there was a concern that there would be an increasing number of demands for 
confidential research and a question about the ability of researchers who may wish to do so to participate 
in research related to national security issues.  The policy allows someone to do restricted work—but not 
on campus.  One question was whether, if someone is at a national lab doing research, the University 
policy trumps the national lab policies.  The proposed policy amendments clarify that situation. 
 
 Does this cover all the contingencies, Dr. VanDrasek asked?  All that he could think of, Mr. 
Bohnhorst replied.  Professor Gantt pointed out that there are USDA employees on the University campus 
doing research on, for example, cereal rust; these employees have adjunct University appointments.  
Would they be covered by University rules or federal rules?  Does the policy cover adjuncts, Professor 
Dahlberg added.  It does, Mr. Bohnhorst said.  If they are a PI running a project, they are covered, Ms. 
Webb agreed.  The policy applies to faculty, staff, students, and volunteers, Mr. Bohnhorst said.   
 
 Some research might not be conducted in facilities, Professor Weisberg observed.  It might be 
research on Google with collaborators everywhere and the research conducted from home.  Is that 
exempt?  It would only be exempt if someone were on leave or doing the work as a consultant, Ms. Webb 
said; if being done as an employee, it would be covered.   
 
 One administrative issue that needs to be dealt with is the case of research initially begun while 
someone is away and then continued when he or she returns to the University, Ms. Webb said.  The 
research may have qualified under policy at another institution but not at the University.  The University 
will need to be careful about meeting the terms and conditions of research agreements made elsewhere. 
 
 Mr. Bohnhorst said the amendments help explain how to approach the external sales example that 
Ms. Webb presented; that work involved only gathering data to support research by others being done 
elsewhere. 
 
 The Committee voted unanimously to approve the amendments and forward the revision to the 
Senate Consultative Committee. 
 
4. A New Subcommittee 
 
 Professor Dahlberg reported that he and Professor Martin, chair of the Committee on Finance and 
Planning, have agreed to appoint an ad hoc subcommittee to explore a number of questions raised by that 
committee as a result of a discussion of research funding that appeared in the minutes of this Committee.  
He asked Committee members to think about serving on the subcommittee. 
 
 Professor Dahlberg adjourned the meeting at 11:30. 
 
      -- Gary Engstrand 
 
University of Minnesota 
 



Senate Research Committee 
Monday, April 21, 2008 
 
 

6

 
* * *  
 
Procedures for internal review of proposals 
 
Guarantee equitable access to relevant information before the proposals are submitted  
--  Provide a clear statement of the purpose and expected use of the funding 
--  Provide a clear statement concerning other funding sources, such as matching funds being 
required, or if existing funding diminishes consideration for this award 
--  Provide a clear statement on expectations about how future funding will be treated 
--  Clearly define what sort of proposals are being requested (include all of the requirements 
including eligibility) 
--  Provide an explicit explanation of all of the steps in the review process 
--  Have a clear statement of evaluation criteria for selection for funding   
--  Advertise broadly to help guarantee that everyone eligible has a chance to participate 
--  Provide a clear statement of the evaluation criteria to all eligible proposers 
 
Careful selection and preparation of reviewer 
--  Select reviewers with expertise matched to the goals of the RFP 
--  Reviewers must be selected to control for any potential for conflict 
--  No one involved in the call for proposals or the review process should be allowed to submit 
proposals; if the pool of reviewers with the appropriate expertise is so small as to not allow this, 
all proposers should be made aware of this and given the opportunity to participate as reviewers. 
--  All reviewers must be apprised of the potential for conflict and asked to recuse themselves if a 
potential for conflict exists 
--  Reviewers need to be familiar with the RFP and evaluation criteria 
--  All reviewers should receive the same instructions about their responsibilities and the  
expectations for the review process 
--  Reviewers should not discuss any aspect of any proposal reviewed or share aspects of the 
discussion of any proposals with anyone outside the review process 
 
Maintain strict adherence to due dates and any proposal requirements (length, formatting, 
proposal routing requirements) 
 
Review proposals according to the prescribed process and criteria 
--  Have more than one reviewer per proposal   
--  Provide the opportunity for reviewers to discuss ratings 
--  Complete the review process in a timely manner 
 
Provide explicit feedback to proposers in a timely manner 
 


